FILED

JAN 17 2017

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

FILED

Jan 04, 2017
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 32869-4-III

94042.8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

v.

JOHN MARK CROWDER,

Appellant

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Anita I. Petra, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 32535 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-359l

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, by and through its attorney, Andy Miller, Prosecuting Attorney, and Anita Petra, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision, as designated in part II of this petition.

II. RELIEF REQUESTED

The State seeks review of the opinion filed in State of Washington v. John Mark Crowder, Court of Appeals case number 32869-4-III, on December 1, 2016. This opinion reversed Counts III and IV: convictions for Delivery of a Controlled Substance to a Person under the Age of 18.

Mr. Crowder's conviction for Rape in the First Degree with a firearm allegation and allegation that the victim was less than 15 years old was affirmed in full.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the State have sufficient evidence to uphold the jury's verdict on Counts III and IV, that the defendant was guilty of Delivery of a Controlled Substance to a Person under the Age of 18?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 19, 2014, 15-year-old S.I. and 16-year-old Z.H. had been hanging out with friends and were walking to back to S.I.'s house in the

dark. RP¹ at 215-19, 274-80. Z.H. had a "five sack" of marijuana on him that he had purchased earlier that day and vodka. RP at 219, 232, 277. While they were walking, they encountered the defendant who asked if they wanted to light fireworks. RP at 219-20, 276, 280. The boys agreed and accompanied the defendant to a bonfire at a friend's house of the defendant. RP at 220, 280.

While at the bonfire, the defendant asked the boys if they smoked marijuana. RP at 221. The boys said "yes." RP at 281. He asked if they wanted to smoke some "pot" with him. RP at 221, 281. The boys said yes and they drove to the defendant's house a short distance away. RP at 221, 227. They went into the defendant's garage and the defendant pulled out a green bong and marijuana from a cabinet. RP at 222-24. The defendant got the marijuana from a prescription pill bottle in the cabinet. RP at 223-24. Prior to loading the marijuana in the bong, the defendant used a "weed grinder." RP at 285-86. Z.H. testified that the purpose of a "weed grinder" was it "makes it easier to pack [the weed] in the bowl." RP at 285. After grinding up the marijuana, the defendant put marijuana in the bong and gave it to the boys to smoke. RP at 223-24. The boys testified the marijuana the defendant gave them had different names. RP at 224-25.

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, RP refers to the verbatim report of proceedings of the jury

like "skunk." RP at 226, 287. The boys described to the jury how to smoke out of a bong. RP at 225, 286. Both boys were experienced pot smokers. RP at 225-27, 287. The boys described how the marijuana made them feel. RP at 226, 287-89. S.I. testified that it felt like marijuana he had smoked before. RP at 226.

After smoking the marijuana, all three got back into the defendant's Jeep and returned to the bonfire down the street. RP at 227. At the bonfire, the boys and the defendant smoked Z.H.'s marijuana out of a pipe that the defendant provided. RP at 228, 321. The pipe was in a black zip bag. RP at 229. Z.H. took out the vodka he brought and Z.H., S.I., and the defendant began to take shots. RP at 231, 293-94. Both boys testified they were high and drunk. RP at 234, 297.

Z.H. suggested to S.I. that they should go get 14-year-old I.D. RP at 235. The boys texted I.D. and asked her if she wanted to hang out. RP at 133, 235. Around midnight, I.D. checked her cell phone, saw the message, and texted back, "yeah, sure." RP at 133. The boys texted that they were over at the middle school and that they were going to go over to a friend's house for a fire. RP at 134. Fourteen-year-old I.D. snuck out of her bedroom window to meet the boys. *Id*.

trial dated September 16, 17, 18, 19, and 22, 2014.

I.D. began walking toward the school and she was picked up by the defendant in his Jeep. RP at 134. I.D. said S.I. was in the car along with the defendant. *Id.* I.D. had never met nor seen the defendant before. RP at 135. The defendant drove them back to the house with the bonfire which was not far from I.D.'s house. *Id.* When I.D. got to the bonfire, she saw the defendant and Z.H. smoking marijuana out of a pipe. RP at 136. The defendant offered I.D. marijuana and she declined. RP at 138. Z.H. and the defendant continued to drink vodka. RP at 136-37. I.D. did not want to drink any vodka. RP at 138.

I.D testified she saw Z.H. vomit and pass out. RP at 138-39. I.D. testified that he was vomiting because of all the "weed" and vodka. *Id*. S.H. was also passed out. RP at 139. A short time later, the defendant raped I.D. at gunpoint. After the rape, I.D. ran home. She told her mother several days later and the police were called. See State v. Crowder, -- P.3d -, No. 32869-4-III, 2016 WL 7017646, at *1 (Wash. Dec. 1, 2016).

On July 24, 2014, officers executed a search warrant on the defendant's house. RP at 330. During the search of the defendant's home, police located several firearms in his house, including a revolver that matched the description of the gun I.D. had given to the police. RP at 330, 334-37, 339-40, 359-60. Police also recovered prescription bottles with

marijuana from a messenger-style bag in the defendant's garage. RP at 338-39. These prescription bottles filled with marijuana were admitted into evidence and published to the jury. RP at 339. These prescription bottles were labeled as the defendant's medical marijuana. RP at 448, 551. The strains of marijuana on the bottle were "Jack Berry" and "Candy Crush." RP at 551. The marijuana inside the prescription bottles looked like green "nugs." RP at 552. Police also documented a cabinet that contained several prescription bottles. See Ex. 24; RP at 338. This picture was admitted into evidence. RP at 338. One of the prescription bottles in the cabinet matched the style found in the messenger-style bag. See Exs. 10, 24, and 26. At trial, officers testified that a pipe in a black zipper pouch was found in the defendant's vehicle. RP at 455. This pipe was admitted into evidence. RP at 456. This pipe was identified by both minors as the pipe they smoked marijuana out of at the bonfire. RP at 229, 290.

At trial, Sheri Jenkins, a forensic scientist with the Washington State Crime Laboratory, testified that the substance in the prescription bottle was marijuana. RP at 447-49; see former RCW 69.50.101(t) (2014). She also testified that the pipe contained delta-9 tetrahydrocannabinol, a naturally occurring component of marijuana. RP at 446, 448.

² Since the Rape conviction was affirmed on appeal, the State is not detailing the evidence of that count.

On September 22, 2014, the jury convicted the defendant of Rape in the First Degree and answered "yes" to both special allegations. CP 168, 171-72. The jury also convicted the defendant of both counts of Delivery of a Controlled Substance to a Person under the Age of 18. CP 169-70; RP at 601-02. The court sentenced the defendant to a term of 360 months to life. CP 217-18. The defendant appealed and the Court of Appeals reversed Counts III and IV, stating that there was insufficient evidence of marijuana. *State v. Crowder*, -- P.3d --, No. 32869-4-III, 2016 WL 7017646 (Wash. Dec. 1, 2016). The State now petitions this Court for review of that decision.

V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4 discusses the considerations governing this Court's acceptance of review. Here, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2), because the Court of Appeals decision sets an impossible standard in delivery cases where the controlled substance is gone. This impossible standard is in conflict with other appellate divisions. The decision conflicts with Division Two's opinions in *State v. Hernandez*, 85 Wn. App. 672, 935 P.2d 623 (1997), and *State v. Colquitt*, 133 Wn. App. 789, 137 P.3d 892 (2006). Likewise, the decision conflicts with Division One's opinion in *State v. Caldera*, 66 Wn. App. 548, 832 P.2d 139 (1992).

A. The State had sufficient evidence to prove Counts III and IV, that the defendant committed the crimes of Delivery of a Controlled Substance to a Person under the Age of 18.

A conviction based on insufficient evidence contravenes the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and thus results in unlawful restraint. In re Pers. Restraint of Martinez, 171 Wn.2d 354, 364, 256 P.3d 277 (2011). Evidence is sufficient to support a finding of guilt if, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Rose, 175 Wn.2d 10, 14, 282 P.3d 1087 (2012). A claim of insufficient evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn from that evidence. State v. Canton, 174 Wn.2d 239, 241, 273 P.3d 980 (2012). Circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). Deference is given to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), aff'd, 166 Wn.2d 380, 208 P.3d 1107 (2009). A juror properly brings his or her own opinions, insights, common sense, and everyday life experiences into deliberations. State v. Briggs, 55 Wn. App. 44, 58, 776 P.2d 1347 (1989).

In the instant matter, the majority imposes an impossible standard of proof in delivery cases where a controlled substance is gone.

Circumstantial evidence and lay testimony may be sufficient to establish the identity of a drug in a criminal case. Hernandez, 85 Wn. App. at 675; In re Pers. Restraint of Reismiller, 101 Wn.2d 291, 294, 678 P.2d 323 (1984). "[A] witness who demonstrates an expertise 'acquired either by education or experience' in this area may give an opinion as to the identity of a substance." Hernandez, 85 Wn. App. at 676 (quoting State v. Hutton, 7 Wn. App. 726, 731, 502 P.2d 1037 (1972)). Circumstantial evidence may include the physical characteristics of the substance as well as the packaging. Hernandez, 85 Wn. App. at 677. The opinion need not be based on expert chemical analysis. Id. at 676. Such analysis is not essential to convict. State v. Eddie A., 40 Wn. App. 717, 720, 700 P.2d 751 (1985).

This impossible new standard of proof is in conflict with State v. Hernandez, 85 Wn. App. 672. Hernandez consisted of four consolidated appeals: Ruben Soto, Juan Davila, Leobardo Gill, and Arturo Hernandez. Defendants Davila, Gill, and Hernandez challenged their convictions for delivery of a controlled substance, alleging that the evidence was insufficient to establish that the object delivered was a controlled substance. The facts of the cases are as follows:

In each of these cases, a pair of police officers at a distant location used high powered binoculars to observe the defendant engage in what appeared to be a drug delivery. In each case, the customer and the merchandise was gone by the time the officers arrested the defendant, but the arresting officer found a substance on the defendant or on the defendant's accomplice that appeared similar to the item delivered. In each case, the substance tested positive as an illicit drug. At each of the trials, the State introduced the controlled substance found on the defendant or on his accomplice as circumstantial evidence that the object the defendant delivered was also a controlled substance. At each trial, the police officers described their extensive experience in tracking and arresting persons involved in street level narcotic transactions. They also described the defendant's conduct at the time of the delivery and the appearance of the substance delivered.

Hernandez, 85 Wn. App. at 674-75. All three cases were affirmed as sufficient evidence, holding that circumstantial evidence and lay testimony are sufficient to support a conviction even though the substance delivered was gone by the time the officers arrested the defendants. *Id.* at 679-80, 682. Hernandez clearly conflicts with the majority's decision in the instant matter.

In addition, this impossible new standard of proof conflicts with State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789. In Colquitt, the defendant was charged with unlawful possession of a controlled substance and convicted after a stipulated bench trial where the evidence was based solely on a police report, which contained a statement that the officer thought the substance appeared to be cocaine and that the substance tested

presumptive positive in a field test for cocaine. 133 Wn. App. at 792-94. The court held that an officer's statement that the substance "appeared" to be cocaine, along with a positive field test for cocaine, was insufficient to support the conviction. *Id.* at 794. In doing so, the court outlined a non-exhaustive list of facts a court can consider when determining whether circumstantial evidence proves the identity of substance beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) testimony by witnesses who have a significant amount of experience with the drug in question, so that their identification of the drug as the same as the drug in their past experience is highly credible; (2) corroborating testimony by officers or other experts as to the identification of the substance; (3) references made to the drug by the defendant and others, either by the drug's name or a slang term commonly use to connote the drug; (4) prior involvement by the defendant in drug trafficking; (5) behavior characteristic of use or possession of the particular controlled substance; and (6) sensory identification of the substance if the substance is sufficiently unique.

Id. at 801. Had the majority analyzed the State's evidence in light of the factors outlined in *Colquitt* and in the light most favorable to the State, the jury's verdicts would have been affirmed.

Lastly, this new impossible standard of proof conflicts with *State v*. *Caldera*, which held that a random sampling is sufficient to identify the entire quantity as an illegal drug. 66 Wn. App. at 550. The majority's decision held that there must be some testimony that the tested and

untested materials appeared similar and that no such foundation was made in the instant case. *State v. Crowder*, -- P.3d --, No. 32869-4-III, 2016 WL 7017646, at *4 (Wash. Dec. 1, 2016). In the instant case, there was testimony that the tested substance was similar in appearance to the untested material.

In the instant matter, by looking at the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, the evidence was clearly sufficient to show that the defendant delivered marijuana to the two minor boys. The minors testified that the defendant gave them marijuana in his garage from a prescription pill bottle with names of marijuana strains on it. They testified that the marijuana looked like green "nugs." The boys described how the defendant used a "weed grinder" to "pack the bowl" before they smoked out of the bong. RP at 285. All three smoked the marijuana out of a green bong in the defendant's garage. The boys testified that the defendant called the substance they were smoking "marijuana." Both boys could describe the green bong they used to smoke the marijuana that was given to them by the defendant. Both boys could describe the cabinet where the green bong and marijuana were taken from. The officers took pictures of this cabinet during the search warrant. The cabinet contained pill bottles and a green bong in it. Pictures of the cabinet were admitted into evidence.

Both boys testified they had prior experience with marijuana and had purchased marijuana earlier that day. Both boys testified as to how it made them feel. The boys testified that they smoked their own marijuana later on that same night with the defendant out of a glass pipe provided by the defendant.

During the search warrant of the defendant's garage, green "nugs" of marijuana were found in prescription pill bottles with names of marijuana strains on it. At trial, the forensic scientist testified that one of the prescription pill bottles for medical marijuana contained marijuana. These prescription pill bottles were published to the jury and the jury could see the "green nugs" inside the prescription pill bottle. One of the prescription pill bottles matched a pill bottle in the cabinet that the boys testified the defendant retrieved the marijuana in a prescription pill bottle from. The glass pipe all three smoked out of at the bonfire contained deltage tetrahydrocannabinol, a naturally occurring component of marijuana. The testimony and evidence presented at trial reasonably concluded that the defendant was a medical marijuana patient and obtained his marijuana through a medical provider. RP at 422, 448.

When looking at all this evidence in a light most favorable to the State, a rational fact finder could have found that the marijuana provided to the minors had a potency level of .03 or higher. The majority imposes

an impossible standard whereby the State of Washington would never be able to prove delivery of a controlled substance where the substance is gone. This is in conflict with other appellate decisions.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision failed to properly analyze the sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial in light of *Hernandez*, *Colquitt*, and *Caldera*. By applying the appropriate standard, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the jury could reasonably conclude that the substance delivered was marijuana.