RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE Feb 16, 2017, 4:20 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 32869-4-III

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JOHN MARK CROWDER, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Andrea Burkhart, WSBA #38519 Burkhart & Burkhart, PLLC 6 ¹/₂ N. 2nd Avenue, Suite 200 PO Box 946 Walla Walla, WA 99362 Tel: (509) 529-0630 Fax: (509) 525-0630 Attorney for Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John Mark Crowder, Respondent, submits this Answer to the Petition for Review filed by the State of Washington, Petitioner.

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The State seeks review of that portion of the Court of Appeals' opinion filed on December 1, 2016 reversing Crowder's convictions for delivering marijuana to a minor.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the State presented sufficient evidence to prove that Crowder delivered a controlled substance.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For purposes of this Answer, Crowder accepts the Statement of the Case set forth in the State's Petition for Review, as well as the facts set forth in the Court of Appeals' December 1, 2016 opinion.

V. ARGUMENT ON ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

The State failed at trial to present evidence from which the jury could conclude that marijuana seized from Crowder's home and tested was a representative sample of the substance delivered to S.I. and Z.H. five days later, or establishing a foundation from which the jury could have concluded that the subjective experiences of S.I. and Z.H. after consuming the substance indicated that the substance was marijuana. *Opinion*, at 9-12. Contrary to the State's argument, the ruling does not establish an impossible standard of proof in drug cases where the substance is not recovered; rather, it identifies the evidentiary deficiencies in the State's case and described how those deficiencies could have been overcome by applying accepted and established legal principles. As such, the petition seeks only to overturn an appellate decision with which the State disagrees, but does not establish grounds for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Accordingly, the petition should be denied.

The State's allegation that the opinion conflicts with three published decisions from other divisions of the appellate courts is incorrect, because the Court of Appeals correctly applied the principles of those decisions in this case. *Petition for Review*, at 6. In *State v*. *Hernandez*, 85 Wn. App. 672, 676, 935 P.2d 623 (1997), the court held that properly qualified lay or expert testimony could establish the identity of a substance, without requiring chemical testing. The Court of Appeals did not dispute or reject this principle, but simply pointed out that the State did not lay an adequate foundation from which identity could be concluded. *Opinion*, at 10 (State did not present foundational testimony of similarity from which tested materials could be deemed a representative

2

sample), 11 (State did not present foundational testimony about the effects of THC that could show a correlation between the effects reported by S.I. and Z.H. and the potency of the substance they consumed). Thus, contrary to the State's assertion, the opinion does not conflict with *Hernandez*; rather, it applies the same principles and reaches a different result in light of deficiencies in the State's case.

Likewise, the decision does not conflict with State v. Colquitt, 133 Wn. App. 789, 137 P.3d 892 (2006). In Colquitt, following a stipulated facts trial based solely on the police reports, the court determined that in the absence of foundational testimony supporting the officer's ability to identify the substance on sight, the identity of the substance could not be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. 133 Wn. App. at 800-01. Here, again, the State's evidence simply failed to present sufficient evidence from which the jury could reach the required conclusions – not only that the substance was marijuana, but that it had a minimum THC content. The opinion identifies a number of possible ways the State *could* have met this burden, including testimony explaining the significance of the requirement of 0.3% THC content – i.e., whether this was a large, small, or typical concentration - and whether this amount would produce the "high" reported by S.I. and Z.H. Opinion, at 11-12. Absent this link, the subjective experiences of S.I. and Z.H., while circumstantial evidence of

3

the substance's identity, are not sufficient to prove it beyond a reasonable doubt – exactly the conclusion reached in *Colquitt*. *Id*. at 801-02.

Finally, the State contends the decision conflicts with *State v*. *Caldera*, 66 Wn. App. 548, 832 P.2d 139 (1992) because the Court of Appeals concluded the State's foundation was inadequate to show that the tested material was a representative sample of the substance consumed five days earlier by S.I. and Z.H. *Opinion*, at 10. *Caldera* held that "scientific testing of a random portion of a substance that is consistent in appearance and packaging is reliable and supports a finding that the entire quantity is consistent with the test results of the randomly selected portion." *Id.* at 550. Here, the Court of Appeals cited *Caldera* and held that the required foundation was not established in this case. *Opinion*, at 10. Thus, the decision is not in conflict with *Caldera*, but rather applies *Caldera* to the State's evidence.

The State has shown no conflict with existing law and argued no other basis for accepting review than error correction. Contrary to its assertion that the Court of Appeals created "an impossible standard whereby the State of Washington would never be able to prove delivery of a controlled substance where the substance is gone," the Court of Appeals applied the same standards that the State identifies and even advised the

4

State what evidence it needed to present to establish the necessary foundation. *Petition for Review*, at 13. The State's disagreement with the Court of Appeals' application of existing law does not put the decision in conflict with existing law within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(2). Accordingly, the State has failed to demonstrate grounds for acceptance of review.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Crowder respectfully requests that the Court DENY the State's petition for review.